2018

**Stuart Wood and Laurie Wood, Plaintiffs and Appellants v. KNS International, L.L.C., a Utah Limited Liability Company and United Parcel Service, Inc., a Delaware Corporation, Defendants and Appellees : Brief of Appellant**

Utah Court of Appeals

## INTRODUCTION

This appeal arises from a negligence case.

In early 2013, a United Parcel Service (“UPS”) truck driver backed up and crashed his/her tractor-trailer into the loading dock at the warehouse of KNS International, L.L.C. (“KNS”). The collision damaged the loading bay’s concrete and partially dislodged and loosened some bolts to an overhead vinyl curtain and fixation system. KNS discovered the damage and tightened some of the loosened bolts, but did not fix the concrete nor replace the one or two bolts which had fallen out.

One week to a month after the UPS driver hit the KNS docking bay, the vinyl curtain dislodged from the damaged concrete and fell on Plaintiff Stuart Wood, permanently injuring him. The Woods then filed claims against both KNS and UPS.

UPS moved for summary judgment on two grounds 1) UPS owed no duty to Mr. Wood because UPS did not own the KNS property and 2) KNS’s actions constituted an intervening cause as a matter of law. In response, the Woods 1) discussed UPS’s duty, 2) showed the UPS truck driver acted negligently when he/she hit the docking bay hard, 3) explained that UPS’s actions caused the vinyl curtain to eventually fall, and 4) demonstrated that the injury to Mr. Wood was foreseeable. The Woods also discussed how KNS’s actions could only be an intervening cause as a matter of law if the undisputed facts showed KNS actions “were in hindsight extraordinary.”

The district court granted UPS’s motion for summary judgment. In that ruling, the district court did not rule that the Woods had not established a prima facie case of negligence against UPS. Nor did the district court rule that UPS owed no duty to Mr.

Wood. To the contrary, the district court recognized such a duty existed initially. Nevertheless, the district court ruled as a matter of law that 1) UPS's duty "ended" when KNS became aware of the damage UPS caused to its building and 2) UPS's actions could not be the proximate cause of Mr. Wood's injury; without explicitly saying so, the district court in essence ruled that KNS's actions were an intervening act relieving UPS of responsibility. In short, the district court denied the Woods a jury trial by making the factual determination that a reasonable jury could only conclude that KNS's actions after UPS caused the damage were in hindsight "extraordinary"—the key standard in this case—and therefore an intervening cause as a matter of law.

As discussed in this brief, the district court's decision was wrong for three reasons. First, UPS owed a duty to Mr. Wood to use reasonable care in the operation of its truck to avoid creating a dangerous condition on property which could injure Mr. Wood. Second, the Woods provided ample evidence to support a jury verdict against UPS 1) for breaching UPS's standard of care and 2) establishing UPS's actions proximately caused Mr. Wood's injury. Third, UPS did not provided facts sufficient for the district court to take the intervening cause issue away from the jury. The facts relied on by UPS below are insufficient for the district court to conclude that *all* reasonable jurors would have found that KNS's actions were, in hindsight, "extraordinary" or "highly extraordinary." While the district court obviously felt this way, the district court erred by supplanting its own judgement for that of the jury on the intervening cause issue.

///  
///



## **STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES, STANDARD OF REVIEW, AND PRESERVATION**

The Woods challenge the district court's grant of summary judgment in favor of UPS on these three issues: first, whether UPS had a duty to use reasonable care when backing its truck to not create a dangerous condition on property; second, whether the Woods established a prima facie case of negligence against UPS; and third, whether the district court correctly took the issue of causation away from the jury and found that an intervening cause cut off UPS's liability as a matter of law.

***Summary judgment standard of review:*** The court of appeals "review[s] the district court's decision to grant summary judgment for correctness, affording the trial court no deference. An appellate court reviews a trial court's legal conclusions and ultimate grant or denial of summary judgment for correctness and views the facts and all reasonable inferences drawn therefrom in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party." *Torrie v. Weber County.*, 2013 UT 48, ¶ 7, 309 P.3d 216 (citations and internal quotation marks omitted). Moreover, our supreme court has explained that "summary judgment is appropriate in negligence cases only in the clearest instances." *Dwiggins v. Morgan Jewelers*, 811 P.2d 182, 183 (Utah 1991) (citation omitted).

**ISSUE 1: Does UPS owe a Duty to Use Reasonable Care in the Operation of its Trucks to Avoid Creating a Dangerous Condition on Property Which Could Injure Users of that Property?**

***Standard of Review:*** "[W]hether a duty exists is a question of law which we review for correctness." *Wood v. Salt Lake City Corp.*, 2016 UT App 112, ¶ 8, 374 P.3d

1080 (alteration in original) (citation and internal quotation marks omitted). The existence of a duty is a question of law which is “determined on a categorical basis” for a given class of cases rather than on those cases individual facts or the “specific mechanism of the harm.” *B.R. ex rel. Jeffs v. West*, 2012 UT 11, ¶ 25, 275 P.3d 228.

**Preservation:** The Woods preserved this claim by opposing UPS’s motion for summary judgment and specifically arguing that a duty existed as part of their summary judgment briefing and argument. Appellate Record (“R”) 1059, 60. *Cf Heritagewest Fed. Credit Union v. Workman*, 2010 UT App 342 (per curiam) (unpublished) (explaining that Appellant failed to preserve a claim against summary judgment “[b]ecause [he] failed to oppose the motion for summary judgment.”)

**ISSUE 2: Did the Woods present a prima facie negligence case against UPS?**

**Standard of Review:** “A prima facie case of negligence requires a showing of: (1) a duty of reasonable care extending to plaintiff; (2) breach of that duty; (3) proximate and actual causation of the injury; and (4) damages suffered by plaintiff.” *Clark v. Farmers Ins. Exch.*, 893 P.2d 598, 600–01 (Utah Ct. App 1995) (citations omitted).

**Preservation:** The lower court did not address this issue, but it was raised in the responsive memorandum filed by Plaintiffs. R 1059, 60.

**ISSUE 3: Under the facts in this case, could a reasonable jury only conclude with the benefit of hindsight that KNS’s actions were so “extraordinary” as to constitute an intervening cause, cutting off UPS’s negligence liability as a matter of law?**

**Standard of Review:** Because “summary judgment is appropriate in negligence cases only in the clearest instances,” *Dwiggins*, 811 P.2d at 183, this court has explained that “[i]t is only when the facts are undisputed and but one reasonable conclusion can be drawn therefrom’ that proximate cause becomes a question of law.” *Kranendonk v. Gregory & Swapp, PLLC*, 2014 UT App 36, ¶ 20, 320 P.3d 689 (quoting *Apache Tank Lines, Inc. v. Cheney*, 706 P.3d 614, 615 (Utah 1985)). Otherwise, questions of “breach and proximate cause are questions of fact for the fact finder determined on a case-specific basis.” *Jeffs*, 2012 UT 11, ¶ 25. In Utah, “[a] superseding cause, sufficient to become the proximate cause of the final result and relieve defendant of liability for his original negligence arises only when an intervening force was unforeseeable and may be described with the benefit of hindsight, as extraordinary.” *Steffensen v. Smith’s Mgmt. Corp.*, 820 P.2d 484, 488 (Utah Ct. App. 1991) (quoting *Robertson v. Sixpence Inns of America, Inc.*, 789 P.2d 1040, 1047 (Ariz. 1990)).

**Preservation:** The Woods preserved their causation claim by opposing UPS’s motion for summary judgment and arguing that UPS breached its duty to Mr. Wood as part of their summary judgment briefing and argument. R 1054–1059. *Cf Heritagewest*, 2010 UT App 342 (*per curiam*).

**JURISDICTION:** This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to Utah Code § 78A-4-103 because the case arises from a final order over which the Court of Appeals does not have original appellate jurisdiction but was transferred to the Court of Appeals. Appellant’s docketing statement contains a thorough explanation of how the district court’s grant of summary judgment became a final, appealable order.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

***Procedural History:*** This appeal stems from a negligence case brought by the Woods against UPS (the party which caused the dangerous condition) and KNS (the party on whose property the condition existed) after a heavy vinyl curtain fell on Mr. Wood's head, permanently injuring him. Following the close of fact discovery, UPS moved for summary judgment. R 342. The Woods opposed the motion, UPS replied, and oral argument was scheduled for September 10, 2017. R 1036–1154; 1165–1210; 1235–36. Both sides appeared at the hearing and argued their respective positions. R 1659. Ruling from the bench, the district court ultimately granted UPS's motion for two reasons: first, the district court found that UPS's "duty ended when KNS became aware of the defect upon its building," R 1720:13–14; and second, the district court found "that the injury to Mr. Wood . . . was not proximately caused by UPS's damage to the building." R 1720:22–24. Tellingly, the district court noted that the proximate cause issue was "a very close question legally." R 1724:12–13

The court's oral ruling was later captured in a written order entered on November 20, 2017. R 1765–67. On the duty issue, the district court stated the following:

Based on the undisputed facts, summary judgment is appropriate as a matter of law, because UPS owed no duty to the plaintiffs at the time of injury. UPS's duty ended when KNS became aware of the damage UPS caused to its building. At that time, KNS was in a superior position to repair the damage and defects to the building, or restrict access to the bay so that it could not be used. At this point, UPS had no further duty to people injured by the damage it caused to the building. R 1766.

On the proximate cause issue, the district court stated the following:

Summary judgment in favor of UPS is also appropriate because the injury to Mr. Wood was not proximately caused by the damage UPS caused to the building. The defective property was in the sole possession of KNS for one week to one month before the injury to Mr. Wood occurred. If KNS was negligent in not repairing the door, or in the manner in which it repaired the door, there is intervening negligence by KNS that causes the injury to Mr. Wood. Alternatively, if KNS repaired the door in a manner that was reasonable and not negligent, no party's negligence caused the injury to Mr. Wood. Under either scenario, UPS did not proximately cause Mr. Wood's injury, and cannot be liable as a matter of law. R 1766–67.

Importantly, the district court did *not* reference Utah's "extraordinary" standard or otherwise discuss the foreseeability of KNS's actions—the necessary hurdles for a ruling as a matter of law on a proximate cause issue for intervening cause in Utah.

Following UPS's dismissal on summary judgment, the Woods and KNS reached a settlement, and on January 3, 2018, KNS was dismissed from the case. R 2136–38; 2155–2159. At that point, no defendants remained in the case, and the district court's prior summary judgment ruling in favor of UPS became a final appealable order. *See* Docketing Statement. The Woods filed a notice of appeal two days later. R 2166–67.<sup>1</sup>

***Factual background:***

**Background Facts:**

KNS has been in business since 2001. R 1071:9–10. KNS fulfills customer orders from website purchases mainly involving women's fashion apparel and shoes. R 1067–68. In 2012–2013, KNS operated and managed a warehouse from which it would receive

---

<sup>1</sup> The Wood's also filed a Rule 59 Motion to Alter or Amend Judgment which was withdrawn after the Wood's learned that KNS would be dismissed from the case, making the court's earlier, non-final summary judgment ruling in favor of UPS a final, appealable order. R 2147; *see* Docketing Statement.

and distribute its products. R 1071:13–15. Mike Kelly, the current President of KNS, identified this warehouse as Building 3, shown below. R 1070:13–14. The KNS warehouse has a docking bay designed to receive trucks, and in particular, receive the trailers of tractor trailers. R 1072:7–1073:23; 1821:24–1822:13. Docking Bays A and B in Building 3 are shown below, R 1037–38:



**Docking Bay B**



**Docking Bay A**

TJ Barney was an employee of KNS from late 2007 through early to mid-2013. R 1085:5–10. During part of his tenure at KNS, Mr. Barney worked as an assistant manager/supervisor/assistant warehouse manager. R 1085:12–21. He had responsibility over a number of KNS employees. R 1086:20–1087:22. After September 1, 2011, but before Mr. Wood was injured, KNS installed a number of vinyl curtains on its warehouse doors including a vinyl curtain on the outside of the door for Docking Bay B. R 1089:14–1091:17. A photograph of the vinyl curtain from Docking Bay B is show below, R 1038:



The vinyl curtain components included a metal bracket with 16 bolt holes. R 1096:10–20. Mr. Barney helped install some of the vinyl curtains. R 1090:5–6. Mr. Barney testified about how KNS installed the vinyl curtains over the warehouse doors:

- KNS used the bracket bolt holes to measure where to place the bolts;
- KNS hammer drilled 16 holes into the cinderblock;
- KNS then placed the bracket to line up with the bolt holes;
- KNS drilled the bolts through the metal bracket into the concrete;
- KNS then placed the vinyl stripping over the small extended posts; and
- KNS secured the vinyl stripping with a nut.

R 1090:5–1091:17; R 1093:9–1099:1. Mr. Barney testified there were no problems with the installation of the vinyl curtains. R 1098:6-14.

A UPS Tractor-Trailer Crashed Into Docking Bay B Causing Structural Damage to the Vinyl Curtain Bracketing/Bolting System and the Concrete Holding the Vinyl Curtain.

Mr. Barney was working in the KNS warehouse when he heard a “bad bang.” R 1099:22–1100:10; 1101:20–1102:22. Mr. Barney felt the building shake because the building had been hit so hard. R 1103:2-10. Mr. Barney described the impact as “like a mini bomb went off.” R 1113:1–2. The “bad bang” occurred after KNS installed the vinyl curtains. R 1099:22–1100:2. After Mr. Barney walked over to the source of the

“bad bang,” he saw that a UPS tractor-trailer had backed down Docking Bay B and had hit the KNS building. R 1099:20–1100:24; R 1112:16–25. Mr. Barney knew it was a UPS tractor-trailer that had hit the KNS building because he testified, “I was standing there and it was a UPS truck that was there after the building shook.” R 1109: 19–23. Mr. Barney also talked to the UPS driver about hitting the building. R 1109:22–1110:13. After the collisions, Mr. Barney saw the “cinderblock” holding the vinyl curtain had cracked. R 1113: 7–12. Mr. Barney also saw that one or two of the bolts holding the vinyl curtain had fallen out of the concrete. R 1108:12–17; R 1105:25–1106:15. Mr. Barney testified that the concrete holding the vinyl curtain would no longer hold the one or two bolts which had come out of the vinyl curtain bracket. R 1105:12–24.

Mr. Barney testified he had to tighten one or two other bolts which had loosened because of the UPS truck’s collision with the KNS building. R 1106:16–1108:11. Mr. Barney guessed the UPS truck hit the KNS building “multiple weeks” before the vinyl curtain bracket fell on Mr. Wood’s head. R 1104:9–20. Mr. Barney testified, to the best of his recollection, that the UPS tractor-trailer hit the KNS building one week to one month before the vinyl curtain fell on Mr. Wood. R 1104:9–20. Prior to the UPS collision, Mr. Barney had constantly inspected the KNS building and he had not seen any damage around Docking Bay B before the UPS truck had hit the KNS building. R 1103:23–1104:25. Mr. Barney concluded the UPS tractor-trailer had caused the damage to the KNS building because 1) the tractor-trailer hit the building “so hard” and 2) he personally observed the damage after the UPS tractor-trailer hit the KNS building. R 1102:23–1103:14; 1111:18–25; 1112:16–1113:3. Mr. Barney believed that after he had



tightened the bolts he felt the vinyl curtain was “secure enough at least for my liking.” R 1113:15–1114:4.

The UPS Tractor-Trailer That Hit the KNS Building Broke Both UPS’s and Common Safety Rules.

UPS uses tractors to deliver the UPS trailers. R 1073:24–1075:13. UPS produced David Keeling as a UPS 30(b)(6) witness. Mr. Keeling is UPS’s Global Health and Safety Compliance Director. R 1117; 1120:5–8. Mr. Keeling testified he was prepared to testify concerning the safety rules used by UPS tractor-trailer drivers when backing into a building. R 1121:23–1122:2. Mr. Keeling testified that UPS tractor-trailer drivers, when backing their tractor-trailers, must follow certain rules. These rules include the following:

- a. A UPS driver must do “a controlled back,” R 1125:5–7;
- b. A UPS driver must not go fast when backing, R 1125:5–7; and
- c. A UPS driver backing to a dock must get out and check the distance if he/she is unsure of where his/her trailer is in relation to the dock. R 1126:1–16.

Mr. Keeling testified that UPS’s backing safety rules are designed to prevent injury to people, the building/dock and the UPS trailer. R 1125:5–15; 1127:15–1128:3. UPS assumes a UPS driver is not backing properly if the UPS driver’s trailer hits a building so hard that it causes structural damage to the building. R 1123:8–16. UPS cannot think of any circumstance under which a UPS driver would hit a building hard if the UPS driver is following UPS’s rules for safe backing. R 1128:10–1129:2. UPS

agrees that it is possible to cause structural damage to a building if the driver hits a building hard enough. R 1123:17–1124:4.

The UPS Tractor-Trailer Collision with KNS’s Building at Docking Bay B Caused the Vinyl Curtain To Eventually Detach From the Concrete and Hit Mr. Wood on the Head.

Mr. Wood was injured on February 4, 2013 when the vinyl curtain in Docking Bay B detached from the concrete and fell on Mr. Wood’s head as he was delivering packages to KNS. R 1134:23–1135:13; 1136:1–25. That day, KNS warehouse manager Gavin Thain looked at the concrete after the vinyl curtain bracket detached from the top of Docking Bay B. *See* R 1144:3–8. Mr. Thain believed the damage caused to the concrete by the UPS truck backing into the KNS building ultimately caused the vinyl curtain bracket to fall. R 1142:15–1144:8. None of the other vinyl curtains installed by KNS failed or had any problems except the bracket and curtain assembly struck by UPS. R 1149:3–14.

Scott Kimbrough, Plaintiff’s expert, submitted a report which explained his belief that UPS’s collision with the KNS building caused the vinyl curtain bracket to fall on Mr. Wood. R 1899–1900; 1908–1918.

UPS Relies Upon the Following Three Facts to Assert KNS’s Actions Constitute an “Intervening Act” Sufficient to Cut Off UPS’s Own Negligence.

First, KNS through Mr. Barney knew before the vinyl curtain fell on Mr. Wood that a UPS tractor-trailer had caused significant damage to the vinyl curtain bracketing/bolting system and the concrete holding the vinyl curtain and that Mr. Barney had attempted to fix the bracket. *See e.g.* R 1099:22–1100:10; 1101:20–1102:22; R 1109:22–1110:13. R 1108:12–17; R 1105:25–1106:15.

Second, on February 4, 2013, before the vinyl curtain bracket fell on Mr. Wood, Mike Kelly, the now President of KNS, saw the vinyl curtain bracket in Docking Bay B hanging down. R 423:16–23; 425:1–426:12. Mr. Kelly described it as follows:

- Q. You saw [the vinyl curtain bracket] was hanging down. How far was it hanging down?  
A. Rough guessing, an inch and a half.  
Q. How much of the bracket was hanging down?  
A. Not a very—guessing, once again, maybe a foot.  
Q. So a foot was hanging down at an angle?  
A. Yeah, 8 to 12 inches, roughly, yea. Yes, it was hanging down at an angle.

R 425:15–23. Mr. Kelly proceeded to drive away from the KNS facility without telling anyone about the damage and the curtain “because no one should have been there and I didn’t think that there was any risk of it hanging down because . . . there’s a lot of bolts holding it . . . I never would have thought it would have fallen.” R 426:17–22.

Third, after the vinyl curtain bracket fell on Mr. Wood, Mr. Wood overheard a KNS employee state as follows:

Gavin, yeah. He was cleaning me up. He was washing me off, and the older guy, gray hair, the owner—I think he’s the owner—was there with him. He was talking about how Gavin was-used to be a surgery assistant and I was in good hands. He was washing all the blood off my face and cleaning me up. And CJ came in and was asking me if I was all right. **Told me he was sorry, that he knew that thing was going to fall. He said we should have taken care of it.** Then the older guy said we’re not talking about that right now. He took him out.

R 970:15–25 (emphasis added).

## SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The district court erred in three ways when it granted UPS’s motion for summary judgment. The district court first erred when it ruled that UPS’s duty “ended” or

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