2018

**Stuart Wood and Laurie Wood Plaintiffs/Appellants, v. KNS International, L.L.C., a Utah Limited Liability Company and United Parcel Service, Inc., a Delaware Corporation, Defendant/Appellee :
Brief of Appellee**

Utah Court of Appeals

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

That section,³ which contains a duty-shifting mechanism, provides:

Where, because of the lapse of time or otherwise, the duty to prevent harm to another threatened by the actor's negligent conduct is found to have shifted from the actor to a third person, the failure of the third person to prevent such harm is a superseding cause.

[RESTATEMENT \(SECOND\) OF TORTS § 452\(2\)](#). The comments to the Restatement explain this principle more fully:

Subsection (2) covers the exceptional cases in which, because the duty, and hence the entire responsibility for the situation, has been shifted to a third person, the original actor is relieved of liability for the result which follows from the operation of his own negligence. The shifted responsibility means in effect that the duty, or obligation, of the original actor in the matter has terminated, and has been replaced by that of the third person.

[RESTATEMENT \(SECOND\) OF TORTS § 452](#) cmt. d. The factors that are relevant to whether and when the duty shifts include the degree of danger and magnitude of risk of harm, the position of the third person to take responsibility, the relationship to the plaintiff, and the lapse of time. *Id.*, cmt. f.

Courts have applied [§ 452](#) to cases with facts similar to those alleged in this case, and have held that an original actor's duty of care subsequently shifts to a different party. For instance, in [Braun v. New Hope Tp., 2002 S.D. 67, 646 N.W.2d 737](#), a truck driver broke a "ROAD CLOSED" sign that was placed in the middle of a road that had been washed out by runoff. *Id.* at 739. The sign was later reinstalled by the town responsible

³ To UPS's knowledge, [section 452](#) has not been expressly adopted as Utah law by any Utah appellate court. The Court should take this opportunity to adopt [section 452](#) as Utah law.

for maintaining the road, but it was shorter than before and was installed on the side of the road instead of in the middle. *Id.* Approximately three weeks after the town reinstalled the sign, a motorist was injured when he did not see the warning sign and drove into the washed out area. *Id.*

Relying on [RESTATEMENT \(SECOND\) OF TORTS § 452](#), the *Braun* court held that any duty the truck driver originally owed with respect to broken sign had shifted to the town that attempted to fix the sign. *Id.* at 741-43. The facts that led to the duty-shift in *Braun* included the lapse of time, the town's independent duty to maintain the road, and the town's affirmative performance of that duty in an allegedly negligent manner. *Id.* at 743.

In this case, the district court's determination that UPS did not owe a duty to Mr. Wood at the time of the accident is consistent with [section 452](#). UPS did not own or control the damaged property, and did not have the right to repair, warn of, or restrict access to the defective area. (R. 57-59, 1765-1769.) Conversely, KNS owed non-delegable duties to Mr. Wood as the possessor of the property, immediately knew of the defect on its property, and affirmatively acted to remedy the defect in a manner the Woods claim was negligent. (R. 57-59, 666-671, 675, 1765-1769.) Finally, a period of one week to one month elapsed between the time KNS knew of the damage and the time Mr. Wood was injured. (R. 666, 670.) These facts, which were undisputed for the purposes of UPS's summary judgment motion, demonstrate that any legal duty UPS could have owed had shifted to KNS by the time of Mr. Wood's injury. The district court correctly held that UPS did not owe a duty.⁴

⁴ UPS's motion for summary judgment was granted on two grounds: (1) that UPS did not owe a duty to the Woods at the time of Mr. Wood's injury; and (2) that Mr. Wood's injuries were not proximately caused by the damage resulting from UPS's trailer allegedly hitting the KNS building. (R. 1765-1769.) The Woods' principal brief raises various other issues

B. *The relevant factors weigh against imposing a duty on UPS.*

The rule stated in [section 452](#) is consistent with the general framework that Utah courts use to determine whether a defendant owes a duty to a plaintiff. Those factors include (1) whether the defendant’s alleged conduct consists of acts or omissions; (2) whether a special relationship between the parties exists; (3) the foreseeability or likelihood of the injury; (4) public policy as to which party can best bear the loss occasioned by the injury; and (5) other general public policy considerations. *B.R. ex rel. Jeffs v. West*, 2012 UT 11, ¶ 5, 275 P.3d 228. Not each of those factors “is created equal,” however, and the factors that are heavily featured some cases play a less important role in others. *Id.* Based on the factors that matter in this case, UPS did not owe a duty of care at the time of Mr. Wood’s accident.

The Woods do not dispute that UPS had no special relationship with them. (Brief of Appellants, at 3.) And while UPS’s alleged conduct consisted of the affirmative act of hitting the building, this factor is less important in this case than it might be in others.⁵ *See id.* at ¶ 7. If this case involved a typical truck accident, and UPS’s driver had either backed into Mr. Wood or backed into a building that immediately fell on Mr. Wood, the analysis would certainly be different. But in this case, UPS’s alleged affirmative acts resulted in damage to a building that was possessed, controlled, and maintained by a third

that were either not disputed for the purposes of UPS’s motion (*i.e.*, creation of a dangerous condition [Brief of Appellants at 10-11]), or that do not have any relationship to duty or proximate cause (*i.e.*, breach of duties [Brief of Appellants at 9-10]). Because those issues were not determinative of UPS’s motion, there is no reason to consider them at this stage.

⁵ Citing to *West*, the Woods proclaim that the affirmative act factor is “the most fundamental factor.” (Brief of Appellants, at 2.) In reality, *West* merely stated that this was “perhaps” the case. 2012 UT 11 at ¶ 7.

party (KNS), the third party had immediate knowledge of the damage, and the damage did not injure Mr. Wood until one week to one month later. Under these unusual circumstances, the fact that UPS allegedly acted affirmatively is not as critical as the other factors which weigh against imposing a duty of care on UPS.

The foreseeability factor weighs against imposing a duty where the property owner knew of the damage but did not fix or mitigate it. See [West, 2012 UT 11 at ¶ 25](#). The broad spectrum of truck accident cases certainly includes individual cases where truck drivers could anticipate a risk of harm to others when operating a truck. What makes the duty analysis in this case different from those, however, is that the risk of harm in other cases was immediate, whereas the actual harm suffered in this case was significantly delayed, caused by a condition known to a party (KNS) that had an independent duty to remedy the condition, and on property that UPS could not repair, enter, or exclude others from.

On the issue of foreseeability, the Woods cite [Holcombe v. NationsBanc Financial Serv. Corp., 248 Va. 445, 450 S.E.2d 158 \(1994\)](#), and argue that the passage of time between UPS's alleged acts and Mr. Wood's accident does not affect the legal determination of duty. In [Holcombe](#), however, there was no third party. The defendant stacked two heavy wall partitions against a wall in a bathroom. Several months later, they fell over and injured the plaintiff. [450 S.E.2d at 159](#). [Holcombe](#) is not instructive here because the defendant in that case not only created the allegedly defective condition, but also owned and maintained the property where the accident happened. [Id.](#) The issue was proximate cause, not duty, and the parties agreed that the defendant property-owner owed a duty of care to the plaintiff. [Id.](#) For that reason, the [Holcombe](#) court did not focus on a broad category of cases (duty), but instead looked at the specific facts of that case (proximate cause), to hold that an issue of fact existed as to foreseeability. [Id. at 160](#).

This case turns on the policy considerations contained in the *West* factors. Whether UPS owed a duty to the Woods depends on public policy considerations as to which party should bear the loss where one party had exclusive control of the property, and the other party did not. The public policy factor cuts against imposing a duty “where a victim *or some other third party* is in a superior position of knowledge or control to avoid the loss in question.” *West*, 2012 UT 11 at ¶ 30 (emphasis added). “In such circumstances, the defendant is not in a position to bear the loss, not because his pockets are shallow, but because he lacks the capacity that others have to avoid injury by taking reasonable precautions.” *Id.*

While UPS did not owe a special duty to the Woods, KNS did as the possessor of the property. See *DCR, Inc. v. Peak Alarm, Co.*, 663 P.2d 433, 435 (Utah 1983) (identifying the relationship between “owners and invitees” as a special relationship). UPS may have been in a position to avoid damaging the building, but KNS was clearly in a superior position to avoid the loss in question, especially at the time of the accident. After it allegedly damaged the building, UPS had no right to repair KNS’s property, restrict access to KNS’s property, or warn others of the damage on KNS’s property. Conversely, KNS had immediate knowledge of the damage, and the rights, responsibilities, and control to repair any defects on its property, prevent others from accessing the area, and warn others of the damage. UPS lacked the capacity that KNS had to avoid Mr. Wood’s injury, which is why it would be against public policy to impose a duty on UPS under the facts of this case.

Contrary to the Woods’ assertion, this is not a situation where innocent parties stand to bear losses caused by a negligent tortfeasor. Rather, it is a situation where one

party's duty to prevent harm subsequently shifted to another for a variety of reasons, and the Woods retained their remedy against that other party.

In a case with similar facts, a federal district court concluded that a truck operator owed no duty of care to the plaintiff who was injured as a result of damage the driver caused to a third party's property. In *De Jesus Adorno v. Browning Ferris Indus. of P. R., Inc.*, 992 F.Supp. 121 (D.P.R. 1998), *aff'd*, 160 F.3d 839 (1st Cir. 1998), a garbage truck ("BFI") damaged a wall while emptying dumpsters at a condominium complex. *Id.* at 122. BFI paid to repair the wall, but the contractor who did the repair work left a hole in the ground behind the wall, and the Condo became aware of the hole soon afterwards. *Id.* at 122-23. The plaintiff later fell into the hole and was injured. *Id.* at 123. On the issue of duty, the district court ruled that BFI owed no duty to the plaintiff. It reasoned:

BFI had a relationship with the Condo. When BFI's driver damaged the wall, BFI acquired several duties. BFI was obligated to ensure that the Condo, as the property owner, was made aware of the damage and any attendant dangerous conditions. BFI was also obligated to pay for the damage its driver's negligence caused. Had the driver's negligence created an immediate danger to others, the exigent situation might have required BFI to undertake additional duties. But BFI had no right, and would not be permitted (absent unusual circumstances) to enter onto the Condo's property in a capacity not authorized by their relationship, *i.e.*, to repair the hole.

Id. at 125. The court emphasized that the "fatal flaw" in the plaintiff's argument was that BFI had no power to remedy the hole, and that the most it could do was warn the Condo. *Id.* Thus, BFI could not be "perpetually liable for injuries caused by the damage it caused to the Condo's property simply because the Condo fail[ed] to restore its property to a safe condition." *Id.*⁶

⁶ In affirming the district court's ruling, the First Circuit held that BFI was only obligated to warn the property owner of the damage, and pay for that damage. 160 F.3d at 842. Once it fulfilled these obligations, it had "no continuing legal duty to ensure the safety of

In this case, imposing a duty on UPS would mean that a party who creates a hazardous condition on another party's property would owe an endless duty for any injuries resulting from the condition, despite the party's inability to correct or warn of the hazard, and regardless of whether the property owner knows of and takes reasonable steps to remedy the hazard. Certainly, this is not the law. See *First Fed. Sav. and Loan Ass'n of Rochester v. Charter Appraisal Co., Inc.*, 247 Conn. 597, 724 A.2d 497, 502 (1999) ("Essential to determining whether a legal duty exists is 'the fundamental policy of the law' that a tortfeasor's responsibility should not extend to the theoretically endless consequences of the wrong."). The district court did not err in ruling that UPS owed no duty at the time of Mr. Wood's accident.

C. *The Woods' expansive reading of Section 383 of the Restatement is erroneous and contrary to Utah law.*

The Woods' reliance on [RESTATEMENT \(SECOND\) OF TORTS § 383](#) for establishing a duty owed by UPS is also misplaced. They take the far-reaching position that, under [Section 383](#), UPS not only owed them a duty of care, but that it owed them the same duties the landowner would owe to them. [Section 383](#) provides:

One who does an act or carries on an activity upon land on behalf of the possessor is subject to the same liability and enjoys the same freedom from liability, for physical harm caused thereby to others upon and outside of the land as though he were the possessor of the land.

The Utah Supreme Court has rejected the Woods' expansive reading of [Section 383](#) as "untenable." In *Hill v. Superior Prop. Mgmt. Serv., Inc.*, 2013 UT 60, 321 P.3d 1054, the plaintiff sued a landscaper for failing to remedy tree roots on a property it maintained.

the premises" because it did not have a continuing right to enter the premises. *Id.* at 843. If the property owner was dissatisfied with the original repair, it should have asked BFI to either remedy the situation or pay the costs the fix it. *Id.*

The supreme court rejected the claim. It characterized [section 383](#) as articulating liability-limiting principles for independent contractors, and declined to read the section as imposing broad possessor-like liability on independent contractors. [2013 UT 60, ¶ 35](#). The broad liability envisioned by the Woods under [Section 383](#) “is appropriately reserved for those who exercise a level of control over property similar to that exercised by an owner in actual occupation.” *Id.* at ¶ 36.

Even assuming the Woods’ dubious premise that UPS was an independent contractor acting on behalf of the landowner, rather than simply making a delivery, [section 383](#) would not apply. Unlike a property owner or possessor, UPS had no right or opportunity to fix, warn of, or restrict access to the hazardous condition at the KNS warehouse prior to Mr. Wood’s accident. [Section 383](#) applies to persons who have the ability to exercise control of the premises similar to the owner’s control. UPS’s lack of such control of the property rendered it unable to remedy the situation, and it is this lack of control that distinguishes UPS from “[o]ne who does an act or carries on an activity upon land on behalf of the possessor.”

The Woods’ reliance on [RESTATEMENT \(SECOND\) OF TORTS § 385](#) is also misplaced. [Section 385](#) provides:

One who on behalf of the possessor of land erects a structure or creates any other condition thereon is subject to liability to others upon or outside of the land for physical harm caused to them by the dangerous character of the structure or condition after his work has been accepted by the possessor, under the same rules as those determining the liability of one who as manufacturer or independent contractor makes a chattel for the use of others.

[Section 385](#) and the supporting authority the Woods reference are inapplicable because they relate to the liability of a contractor for negligence in creating/constructing structures that create dangerous conditions on the property of another. The Restatement

section itself compares the situation to that applicable to the manufacturer of a defective product, and that is the manner in which the Utah courts have applied it. See *Tallman v. City of Hurricane*, 1999 UT 55, ¶ 11, 985 P.2d 892; *Gonzalez v. Russell Sorensen Const.*, 2012 UT App 154, ¶ 4, 279 P.3d 422. UPS did not create any condition on the property on behalf of the owner, and therefore [section 385](#) is not applicable.

II. THE DISTRICT COURT CORRECTLY HELD THAT UPS DID NOT PROXIMATELY CAUSE THE ACCIDENT.

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